STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS 

 

 This case presents an important constitutional issue that strikes at the core of 

public trust and confidence in the judiciary: whether Florida’s circuit and county 

court judges can unilaterally convert the selection of their successors from 

elections into appointments.  Yesterday, two weeks to the day of this Court’s order 

granting a constitutional stay writ to prevent Governor Rick Scott from making a 

prospective appointment to a seat on the Fourth Judicial Circuit Court,1 the First 

District Court of Appeal once again cleared the way for the Governor to 

circumvent the electoral process and make the appointment.  (A.13).  The potential 

jurisdiction this Court just recently protected through its all-writs power has now 

ripened into a full-fledged, undeniable constitutional basis to accept review of the 

First District’s decision and put an end, once and for all, to the electoral 

gamesmanship described in that all-writs petition.   

 The facts hardly need repeating.2  To briefly summarize, the Petitioner, 

David P. Trotti, is a Florida lawyer who “submitted qualifying paperwork for the 

office of Circuit Judge, Fourth Judicial Circuit, Group 6.”  (A.6).  That seat was 

                                                           
1 See Order Granting Emergency Non-Routine Petition for Issuance of a 

Constitutional Writ, Trotti v. Scott, Case No. SC18-1012 (Fla. Sup. Ct. order filed 

July 12, 2018). 
2  There is no doubt that the four corners of the First District’s opinion, although 

omitting some (unfavorable) details provided in the all-writs petition, set forth the 

facts in a sufficient manner to invoke this Court’s discretionary jurisdiction under 

Article V, Section 3(b)(3), of the Florida Constitution.  See Reaves v. State, 485 

So. 2d 829, 830 (Fla. 1986). 
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coming open because its current occupant, Judge Robert M. Foster, had “reached 

the age of seventy” and “could not seek re-election.”  (A.6).  However, instead of 

allowing the electoral process to play out and giving the voters of the Fourth 

Judicial Circuit an opportunity to choose his successor from any candidates who 

qualified for election, Judge Foster, on April 2, 2018, “tendered a letter of 

resignation to Governor Scott conveying his last day in office would be December 

31, 2018, one week (four business days) before his term would expire on January 

7, 2019.”  (A.6).  Governor Scott accepted Judge Foster’s so-called “resignation.”  

(A.6). 

 Meanwhile, Mr. Trotti delivered paperwork seeking to qualify for the 

judicial seat Judge Foster is vacating.  (A.6).  “The Division of Elections 

preliminarily determined Mr. Trotti was a qualified candidate,” but then changed 

course and “notified Mr. Trotti that the judicial seat for which he sought to qualify 

was not a seat that would be filled by election” since, unbeknownst to Mr. Trotti, 

Governor Scott had accepted Judge Foster’s “resignation” prior to the start of “the 

statutory qualifying period for election of circuit court judges.”  (A.6).   

“Mr. Trotti filed a declaratory judgment in the Second Judicial Circuit Court 

seeking a declaration that the judicial vacancy at issue must be filled by election, 

not appointment.”  (A.6).  As part of that declaratory judgment action, and to 

preserve his rights during the litigation, Mr. Trotti filed a motion “to enjoin 
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Governor Scott from filling the judicial vacancy at issue by appointment and to 

enjoin Secretary Detzner from removing Mr. Trotti from the August 28, 2018, 

election ballot.”  (A.6).  

 The trial court granted the injunction, effective immediately.  (A.8).  The 

trial court relied on the majority view of this Court, expressed last election cycle, 

that a judicial vacancy of this type should be filled by election rather than by 

appointment.  (A.11 (citing Pincket v. Detzner, No. SC16-768, 2016 WL 3127704 

(Fla. June 3, 2016)).  But the First District reversed.  (A.6, 13).   

Reaffirming its prior decision in Trotti v. Detzner (Trotti I), 147 So. 3d 641 

(Fla. 1st DCA 2014), the First District held that this “familiar fact pattern” (A.7) 

was indistinguishable from Trotti I (A.9) and that “the individual views of justices 

in unpublished concurring opinions [in Pincket] did not overrule our decision in 

Trotti I.” (A.11).3  The First District’s reasoning speaks for itself.  (A.9-12).   

In essence, the court applied its “bright-line rule” from Trotti I, which it said 

was “derived from the language of the Florida Constitution.”  (A.9).  Under this 

analysis, “[w]hen a resignation is tendered with a future effective date, the vacancy 

is deemed to occur when the Governor accepts the resignation.”  (A.10).  Based on 

                                                           
3  For what it’s worth (and lest this Court be concerned that its opinions are not 

being published), this Court’s order and the separate opinions of Justice Pariente 

and Justice Lewis in Pincket actually are published and readily available to the 

public.  They just are not reported in the hard-bound edition of the Southern Third 

Reporter. 
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its reading of Article V, Section 11(b), of the Florida Constitution, the First District 

said that “[w]hen a circuit court vacancy occurs before the commencement of the 

election process, the Governor shall fill each circuit court vacancy by 

appointment.”  (A.10) (emphasis omitted).  Thus, the First District rejected “Mr. 

Trotti’s arguments premised upon Spector v. Glisson, 305 So. 2d 777 (Fla. 1974),” 

a case the First District described as a “limited exception” to the Governor’s 

appointment power that, if applied here, would “swallow Article V, section 11(b), 

of the Constitution.”  (A.7 (quoting Trotti I, 147 So. 3d at 645)).   

In sum, after citing Article V, Sections 10 and 11, throughout its opinion, the 

First District concluded, on the basis of those provisions, “that the Florida 

Constitution directs the Governor to appoint a successor in situations like the one 

before us.”  (A.12).  “[A]llowing for the immediate appointment to fill Judge 

Foster’s seat,” the First District said, “respects the language of the Florida 

Constitution.”  (A.13).4   

Mr. Trotti invoked this Court’s jurisdiction the same day the First District 

issued its decision and immediately sought a stay of the mandate.       

 

 

                                                           
4  Perhaps it goes without saying, but the seat is not “Judge Foster’s.”  He 

obviously is the current occupant.  But the seat belongs to the people of Florida, 

whose Constitution protects their right, not Judge Foster’s or Governor Scott’s, to 

choose its occupant.  
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SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT 

 

 The First District’s decision expressly construes the Florida Constitution, 

expressly and directly conflicts with a decision of this Court on the same question 

of law, and expressly affects a class of constitutional officers.  It is also the type of 

decision this Court is especially well-suited to review.  It involves the proper 

interpretation of the Florida Constitution, the right of Florida citizens to vote for 

their public officials, and actions taken by some Florida circuit and county judges 

that manipulate the very Constitution they have sworn to uphold and defend.  This 

Court should grant review, settle the law on this recurring issue of great public 

importance, and put an end to this electoral gamesmanship before it happens for 

the fourth straight election cycle.  This Court will never have a better opportunity 

to do so.5   

 

                                                           
5  In fact, given the First District’s full-throated defense of Trotti I, this Court is 

unlikely to ever have another opportunity.  Although the First District’s opinion 

reverses an order granting injunctive relief, rather than an order entered at the 

conclusion of the declaratory judgment action, both that order and the First 

District’s decision reach and decide the merits of the constitutional issue.  Based 

on the First District’s analysis, which dictates the result of the lawsuit and tells the 

trial court that it is not at liberty to disagree with Trotti I, any future proceedings in 

this case are now preordained.  The trial court will be forced to rule in the 

Governor’s favor, and the First District will have no need to explain itself a second 

time.  And, because the injunctive relief to prevent the appointment during the 

litigation is a necessary corollary to the declaratory relief sought by the lawsuit, the 

issue will always arise in this fashion (if it ever arises again at all, now that the 

First District has doubled-down on Trotti I).  Simply put, it’s now or never for this 

Court to intervene.  
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ARGUMENT 

 

 There are three independent bases for this Court to exercise its discretionary 

jurisdiction to resolve this important issue.  We address each in turn. 

I. The First District’s decision expressly construes the Florida 

Constitution. 

 

It is hard to imagine a clearer example of an opinion that expressly construes 

the Florida Constitution: the First District’s opinion plainly states, while repeatedly 

citing provisions of Article V, that “the Florida Constitution directs the Governor 

to appoint a successor in situations like the one before us.”  (A.12).  This holding, 

the First District tells us, is “derived from the language of the Florida 

Constitution.”  (A.9).  It was first enunciated in Trotti I, where, as the First District 

reiterated here, the court determined that utilizing the elective process would 

“nullify[] the Governor’s power of appointment in Article V, section 11(b), of the 

Constitution.”  (A.7 (quoting Trotti I, 147 So. 3d at 645)).   

Put simply, the “bright-line rule” the First District adopted turns entirely on 

its construction of “the plain language of the Florida Constitution.”  (A.9).  This 

Court recognized as much when it addressed the same issue in Pincket.  See 

Pincket, 2016 WL 3127704, at *1 (Pariente, J., concurring in result) (stating that 

Trotti I is not “faithful to the true purpose of the Florida Constitution” and 

expressly analyzing the various provisions of the Constitution governing the issue); 
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id. at *3 (Lewis, J., concurring in result only) (citing the various applicable 

constitutional provisions governing the issue).      

II. The First District’s decision expressly and directly conflicts with 

Spector v. Glisson, 305 So. 2d 777 (Fla. 1974). 

 

The First District’s decision also plainly conflicts with this Court’s decision 

in Spector.  Again, this is a point that a majority of this Court previously 

recognized in Pincket.  See Pincket, 2016 WL 3127704, at *1 (Pariente, J., 

concurring in result) (explaining that Trotti I, reaffirmed by the First District 

below, is not “in keeping with this Court’s opinion in Spector”); id. at *3 (Lewis, 

J., concurring in result only) (stating that Spector should apply to these facts and 

compel the opposite result reached by the First District).   

In Spector, as in this case, a judge who was ineligible to run for another term 

in office sent a letter of resignation to the Governor prior to the start of the 

qualifying period for the next general election.  305 So. 2d at 779.  The resignation 

was prospective in nature—it was to take effect at midnight on the last day of the 

judge’s term.  Id.  When a lawyer attempted to file paperwork to seek election to 

the seat, the Secretary of State turned him away, claiming that the “vacancy” was 

to be filled by appointment, rather than by election.  Id. 

This Court overruled that determination.  As it stated, “if the elective process 

is available . . . it should be utilized to fill any available office by vote of the 

people at the earliest possible date.”  Id. at 782.  “Interim appointments need only 
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be made when there is no earlier, reasonably intervening elective process 

available.”  Id. at 784. 

Because there was an intervening qualifying period and was an intervening 

general election capable of filling the retiring judge’s seat, this Court held that 

there was no need for the Governor to step in and make an appointment.  Id.  In 

other words, elections reign supreme: “[a]s between the appointive power on the 

one hand and the power of the people to elect on the other, the policy of the law is 

to afford the people priority.”  Id.  “[T]he elective process retains that primacy 

which has historically been accorded to it consistent with the retention of all 

powers in the people.”  Id. at 782.  The appointment power, on the other hand, 

exists simply as a failsafe, a “stop gap measure[]” to prevent an “emergency of the 

public business” when an otherwise elected seat will be unoccupied and unable to 

be filled in the normal course.  Id. at 783. 

As pointed out by the dissent in Trotti I, the only difference between the 

facts here and the facts of Spector is that the effective date of the resignation here 

is a few days before the end of the term rather than on the last day.  See Trotti I, 

147 So. 3d at 647 (Padovano, J., dissenting).  That is not a distinction that has any 
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effect on the rule of law announced in Spector.  Thus, the two cases are in express 

and direct conflict.6   

III. The First District’s decision expressly affects a class of constitutional 

officers. 

 

Finally, the First District’s decision expressly affects a class of constitutional 

officers—namely, judges.  Circuit and county court judges, whose conduct is at 

issue and will be governed by the First District’s decision, are constitutional 

officers whose offices are established by Article V.  See In re Advisory Op. to the 

Governor, 154 So. 154, 156 (Fla. 1934) (“Circuit judges . . . are constitutional 

officers.”); Bd. of Cty. Comm’rs of Hillsborough Cty. v. Savage, 58 So. 835, 836 

(Fla. 1912) (“The county judge is a constitutional officer.”).   

Indeed, the First District’s decision presents numerous hypotheticals about 

how Mr. Trotti’s arguments supposedly would require inquiring into a judge’s 

subjective intentions.  (A.9).  We obviously disagree with the First District’s 

                                                           
6  The First District attempted to distinguish Spector based on the belief that its 

holding here is actually more consistent with Spector’s preference for elections 

over appointments.  (A.12-13).  That attempted distinction is hard to swallow.  The 

First District created the very problem it is now complaining about when, in Trotti 

I, it made the highly debatable (and, we posit, incorrect) conclusion that a judicial 

seat like this should be filled by an appointment.  Now that Trotti I has led to the 

type of electoral manipulation the dissent forewarned, the First District is 

suggesting that a decision to backtrack from Trotti I would undermine the electoral 

process.   

In any event, putting the irony aside, the rule of law announced in Spector, 

as Justice Lewis explained in Pincket, is that a manufactured vacancy such as this 

one should be filled by an election.  The rule is not simply a vague preference for 

elections over appointments in a general sense.    
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reasoning, but the point is that the decision quite obviously affects judges—after 

all, the First District is directly discussing their conduct.  Thus, not only does the 

First District’s decision expressly affect a class of constitutional officers, but it 

expressly affects the one type of constitutional officers whose conduct is uniquely 

within this Court’s bailiwick.  See Art. V, § 12, Fla. Const. 

CONCLUSION 

 

 For the reasons set forth in this brief, this Court should exercise its discretion 

and grant jurisdiction to resolve the important constitutional issue presented by the 

First District’s underlying decision.