STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS 
 

Prior Litigation between the Parties: Four years ago, Petitioner David 

Trotti attempted to qualify for election to a vacancy on the Fourth Judicial Circuit 

Court. The First District, applying the language of the Florida Constitution and this 

Court’s precedents, held the vacancy was to be filled by gubernatorial 

appointment—rather than election—because the vacancy occurred before the 

commencement of candidate qualifying period. Trotti v. Detzner, 147 So. 3d 641, 

643-644 (Fla. 1st DCA 2014) (Trotti I). A dissenting opinion argued the vacancy 

should be filled by election. Id. at 645-646. Discretionary review was sought in this 

Court, which declined jurisdiction. Trotti v. Detzner, 157 So. 3d 1051 (Fla. 2014). 

The Present Vacancy: On April 2, 2018, Fourth Judicial Circuit Judge 

Robert M. Foster tendered a letter of resignation to Governor Scott effective 

December 31, 2018, one week (four business days) before his term would expire 

on January 7, 2019. App. 6. On April 23, 2018, Governor Scott accepted Judge 

Foster’s resignation. Id. One week later, on April 30, 2018, the statutory qualifying 

period for election of circuit court judges began. Id. On May 3, 2018, one day 

before the conclusion of the qualifying period, Petitioner delivered his qualifying 

paperwork to run for the seat held by Judge Foster. Id. The Division of Elections 

preliminarily determined Petitioner was a qualified candidate, but promptly 
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notified Petitioner that the judicial seat for which he sought to qualify was not a 

seat that would be filled by election. Id. 

Procedural Background: Petitioner filed a complaint for declaratory 

judgment in the Second Judicial Circuit, seeking a declaration that the vacancy at 

issue must be filled by election, not appointment. Id. Petitioner also filed a motion 

for injunctive relief seeking to enjoin Governor Scott from filling the judicial 

vacancy by appointment and to enjoin Secretary Detzner from removing Petitioner 

from the ballot. Id. “Without distinguishing the facts in the instant case from the 

facts in Trotti I,” the circuit court granted a preliminary injunction. Id. at 8. 

Respondents immediately appealed the preliminary injunction to the First 

District, which reversed the circuit court’s ruling. Specifically, the First District 

held the circuit court “erred in granting injunctive relief” because Petitioner “did 

not establish a substantial likelihood of success on the merits.” Id. In so holding, 

the First District explained it was “error” for the circuit court to align itself with 

“non-binding unpublished concurring opinions” instead of Trotti I, which is 

“binding precedent that the circuit court was obligated to follow.” Id. at 9. The 

First District noted that the circuit court “did not find Trotti I distinguishable from 

the instant case, and neither do we…” Id. at 9-10. The First District acknowledged 

the unpublished concurring opinions in Pincket v. Detzner, SC16-768 (Fla. June 3, 

2016), but held the circuit court had erred in concluding that the “individual views 
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of justices in unpublished concurring opinions” had overruled Trotti I. App. at 11. 

The First District also found that Petitioner had not established injunctive 

relief would serve the public interest, as the circuit court’s preliminary injunction 

would prohibit the voters of the Fourth Judicial Circuit from “actually choosing 

Judge Foster’s successor” for a period of six years. Id. at 12. In contrast, an 

individual appointed by the Governor after screening by the judicial nominating 

commission would face the voters in only two years. Id. at 13. 

Petitioner now seeks discretionary review on the asserted basis that the First 

District’s decision: 1) expressly construes the Florida Constitution; 2) expressly 

and directly conflicts with Spector v. Glisson, 305 So. 2d 777 (Fla. 1974); and (3) 

expressly affects a class of constitutional officers. Pet. Juris. Br. at 5. 

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT 
 

This Court should deny review because the First District’s decision 

reversing the circuit court’s preliminary injunction does not provide a basis for 

discretionary review. First, the decision below does not expressly construe any 

provision of the Florida Constitution, but simply applies constitutional provisions 

that have previously been construed to the facts before it. Second, the First 

District’s decision does not expressly and directly conflict with any decision of this 

Court or of any other district court, so this Court’s review is not necessary to 

resolve irreconcilable holdings on the same issue of law. Third, the decision below 
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does not expressly affect the powers and duties of “judges” as a class of 

constitutional officers; instead, the underlying controversy and decision addresses 

the powers and duties of the Governor and Secretary of State—individual officers 

who are not members of any class. 

Finally, to the extent this Court concludes that the decision below provides 

any basis for discretionary review, this Court should nevertheless decline review 

because the First District’s thorough and well-reasoned opinion leaves no 

substantial doubt as to the questions it resolved. Accordingly, the district court’s 

decision should remain undisturbed. 

ARGUMENT 
 
I. THIS COURT LACKS JURISDICTION TO REVIEW THE FIRST 

DISTRICT’S DECISION. 
 

A. The decision does not expressly construe the Florida Constitution. 
 

This Court’s jurisdiction over decisions that “expressly” construe a provision 

of the state constitution requires that the decision under review “explain, define or 

otherwise eliminate existing doubts arising from the language or terms of the 

constitutional provision.” Ogle v. Pepin, 273 So. 2d 391, 392 (Fla. 1973) (quoting 

Armstrong v. City of Tampa, 106 So. 2d 407, 409 (Fla. 1958)). Jurisdiction “is not 

properly invoked” when the lower court decision merely “[a]ppl[ies] a 

constitutional provision to the facts before it.” Dykman v. State, 294 So. 2d 633, 

635 (Fla. 1973); see also Philip J. Padovano, Fla. App. Practice § 3:8 (2017 ed.) 
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(noting that “[m]any district court of appeal decisions involve an application of 

state or federal constitutional principles to the facts of the case. The application of 

constitutional principles, however, does not amount to a construction of the 

provision involved”).  

Here, the First District’s decision did not expressly construe the Florida 

Constitution and therefore does not provide a basis for discretionary review by this 

Court. The decision merely applies constitutional provisions previously construed 

in Trotti I and other precedents to the facts before it, which neither the circuit court 

nor the district court below found to be distinguishable from Trotti I. App. 9. 

Because the circuit court was required to follow the binding precedent in Trotti I—

yet failed to do so—the First District concluded that the circuit court erred in 

granting injunctive relief. App. 8. 

With characteristic hyperbole, Petitioner claims that it is “hard to imagine” a 

clearer example of an opinion that expressly construes the Florida Constitution. 

Pet. Juris. Br. at 6. But his brief cites only four specific instances where the 

decision mentions the constitution. Id. And in every one of those instances, the 

decision merely references the Florida Constitution ancillary to applying 

established precedent to the facts before it. See App. 7 (quoting the holding of 

Trotti I, which referenced the constitution); App. 9 (noting Trotti I applied a rule 

“derived from the language of the Florida Constitution”); App. 12 (acknowledging 
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this Court’s precedent construing the Florida Constitution in In re Adv. Op. to the 

Gov. re Judicial Vacancy due to Resignation, 42 So. 3d 795, 797 (Fla. 2010) 

(noting that this Court had identified the beginning of the statutory qualifying 

period as the “fixed point” to mark the commencement of the election process)). 

None of these general references to the Florida Constitution purport to 

“explain, define or otherwise eliminate existing doubts arising from the language 

or terms of the constitutional provision.” Ogle, 273 So. 2d at 392. Rather, the First 

District merely applied established precedent to the facts before it and concluded 

the circuit court erred in granting injunctive relief. Because Petitioner has not 

identified any instance where the First District’s decision expressly construes the 

Florida Constitution, this Court lacks a basis for discretionary review. 

B. The decision does not conflict with any other decision. 
 

This Court’s conflict jurisdiction exists to resolve irreconcilable holdings 

within Florida on the same question on law. Wainwright v. Taylor, 476 So. 2d 669, 

670 (Fla. 1985); see also Art. V, § 3(b)(3) (providing discretionary jurisdiction of 

district court’s decision that “expressly and directly conflicts” with a decision of 

another district court or of this Court “on the same question of law”). The express 

and direct conflict must exist “within the four corners of the majority decision.” 

Reaves v. State, 485 So. 2d 829, 830 (Fla. 1986). Conflict jurisdiction may be 

found where the holdings of two decisions are “irreconcilable” or reach opposite 
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holdings on the same question of law on identical controlling facts. Aravena v. 

Miami-Dade County, 928 So. 2d 1163, 1166 (Fla. 2006).  

Here, the requisite conflict is absent because the First District’s holding does 

not conflict with the sole case cited by Petitioner: Spector v. Glisson, 305 So. 2d 

777 (Fla. 1974). In Spector, this Court addressed a resignation by Justice Ervin 

“coincident with the date for taking office by all elected officials … in January, 

1975.” Id. at 781. Under the circumstances presented by Justice Ervin’s 

resignation, no interim vacancy would exist and this Court concluded that the 

election process rather than an interim appointment must be used to fill the office. 

Id. at 784; see also id. at 784 (finding election appropriate “since the present 

justice’s tenure would continue until that effective date of January 6, 1975”).   

Petitioner argues that the decision below “plainly” conflicts with Spector. In 

support, he cites the concurring opinions in Pincket (which addressed Trotti I) and 

the analysis of the dissenting opinion in Trotti I. Pet. Juris. Br. 7, 8. But a 

jurisdictional basis for express and direct conflict must exist “within the four 

corners of the majority decision.” Reaves, 485 So. 2d at 830. Petitioner disregards 

the actual decision below, which simply concludes the circuit court erred in 

disregarding binding precedent when granting injunctive relief. Spector did not 

address this question of law at all. 

Moreover, even Trotti I—the binding precedent disregarded by the circuit 
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court—is not “irreconcilable” with Spector and did not reach an opposite holding 

on the same question of law on the same controlling facts. The majority opinion in 

Trotti I expressly distinguished Spector: Unlike Justice Ervin’s resignation, the 

Fourth Circuit resignation does create an interim vacancy of several days’ duration. 

Because a vacancy existed from the time the Governor accepted the resignation, 

the elective process is “expressly precluded by the applicable language” of the 

Florida Constitution. Cf. Spector, 305 So. 2d at 781. And amendments to the 

Florida Constitution in the nearly five decades since Spector, have made clear that 

the appointment process is complementary to the election process. See, e.g., 

Pincket v. Harris, 765 So. 2d 284, 288 (Fla. 1st DCA 2000). Spector therefore does 

not address the precise question presented in Trotti I. As such, both Trotti I and the 

decision below are not “irreconcilable” with Spector; they address different facts 

and precedents, which dictate a different result. 

C. The decision does not expressly affect a class of constitutional 
officers. 

 
This Court also has discretionary jurisdiction to address decisions that 

“[d]irectly and . . . [e]xclusively affect the duties, powers, validity, formation, 

termination or regulation of a particular class of constitutional or state officers.” 

Spradley v. State, 293 So. 2d 697, 701–702 (Fla. 1974); Art. V, § 3(b)(3), Fla. 

Const. The First District’s decision below provides no basis for discretionary 

review, as it does not expressly affect a class of constitutional officers. 



9 
 

Petitioner argues that the decision below affects the class of “judges” 

because their “conduct” is purportedly at issue. Pet. Juris. Br. 9. But the First 

District’s decision did not address any duties or powers of judges as a class. The 

opinion merely concluded that the particular judge in this case erred by granting 

injunctive relief contrary to binding precedent.  

Even Petitioner’s underlying lawsuit does not present an issue affecting the 

powers or duties of judges as a class, who remain at liberty to resign at any time, 

for any reason. Instead, Petitioner seeks a declaration regarding the powers and 

duties of the Governor and Secretary of State following a judicial resignation. 

However, the Governor and the Secretary of State are individual officers, so the 

decision below cannot be said to affect a “class” of constitutional officers. See 

Padovano, Fla. App. Practice, § 3:9 (2017 ed.) (“The definition of a class also 

excludes a single state officer such as the governor ...”) (citing Larson v. Harrison, 

142 So. 2d 727 (Fla. 1962); Fla. State Bd. of Health v. Lewis, 149 So. 2d 41 (Fla. 

1963) (“There is only one Secretary of State, not a class of Secretaries of State”). 

The First District’s decision therefore provides no basis for discretionary review. 

II. EVEN IF THIS COURT HAD DISCRETIONARY JURISDICTION, 
FURTHER REVIEW IS UNWARRANTED. 

 
To the extent this Court concludes that the decision below provides any 

basis for discretionary review, review should nevertheless be declined. The First 

District’s thorough and well-reasoned opinion leaves no doubt as to the questions it 
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resolved. The decision below correctly concluded that the circuit court erred in 

granting injunctive relief, as the lower court was required to follow the controlling 

and binding precedent of the district courts on the same issue of law. App. 10.  

The result of the First District’s decision is also correct under the language 

of the constitution and this Court’s precedents. The Florida Constitution provides 

that vacancies in circuit court office are filled by gubernatorial appointment. Art. 

V, § 11(b), Fla. Const. A vacancy occurs at the time it is accepted by the Governor, 

even if effective later. In re Advisory Op. to the Gov., 600 So. 2d 460, 462 (Fla. 

1992). The beginning of the candidate qualifying period is the “fixed point” at 

which the election process is used to fill vacancies. Adv. Op. to the Gov. re Judicial 

Vacancy due to Resignation, 42 So. 3d at 797. And this is true even where a 

vacancy is accepted before the qualifying period for a future effective date after 

qualifying. Advisory Op. to Gov. re Sheriff and Judicial Vacancies Due to 

Resignations, 928 So. 2d 1218 (Fla. 2006). The First District’s decision correctly 

resolved the dispute in this case on facts indistinguishable from Trotti I and should 

not be disturbed. 

CONCLUSION 
 

This Court should deny review.